
TABLE OF CONTENTS FOR COUNCIL MEETING HELD NOVEMBER 1, 2016:   
A. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s): 

1. Regular Meeting held October 18, 2016. 
B. Introduction of Ordinance/Resolution Requested by ENMWUA: 

1. PowerPoint Presentation. 
2. Review of Resolution. 

C. Request for Award of Bid and to Enter into Contract for Professional Services for the Senior Center Roof 
Replacement. 

D. Request to Approve Rejection of all Bids for Professional Services for Library Roof Repairs & to reissue an 
Invitation to Bid for the Same. 

E. Discussion/Action of Change to City Council Meeting Schedule for January, February & March 2017. 
F. Other Business/Citizens to be Heard. 

              

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORTALES met in regular session Tuesday, November 1, 2016, at 

6:30 p.m., in the Council Chambers of the Memorial Building, 200 E. 7th Street, Portales, NM in full 
conformity with the rules and regulations.  Mayor King called the meeting to order and asked City Clerk 

Martinez-Terry to call roll.  Those present and constituting a quorum were: 

 
MAYOR:  Sharon L. King   

 
 

MAYOR PRO-TEM: Michael G. Miller (absent) 

 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: Veronica A. Cordova   Oscar H. Robinson       
   Chadrick H. Heflin    Antonio O. Salguero (absent)  

    Jim Lucero     Jessica J. Smith      
    Dianne Y. Parker    

 

 
STAFF PRESENT: Sammy Standefer, City Manager  Steve Doerr, City Attorney  

   Joan Martinez-Terry, City Clerk  Carla Weems, Chief Procurement Ofcr. 
   Veda Urioste, Deputy City Clerk  Pat Gallegos, Police Chief 

   Christine Mitchell, I.T. Tech   

 
          

OTHERS PRESENT: Eamon Scarborough, Press  Justin Howalt, ENMWUA Exec. Dir. 
 Jeff Harrigan, RBC Capital Mktg. Rep. David Essex, Xcel Energies 

 Orlando Ortega, RCCDC Exec. Dir. 
      

Mayor King asked David Essex to give the invocation, and Veda Urioste, Deputy City Clerk, to lead the 

Pledge of Allegiance and the Salute to the New Mexico flag. 
 

 

(A)  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING(S): 
 

1. Regular Meeting of October 18, 2016. 
 

Mayor King asked the Council to consider the minutes of the Regular Meeting of October 18, 2016.  She 
asked for corrections or action on the minutes.  Mayor King asked the pleasure of the Council.  Councilor 
Parker made the motion to approve the minutes of the regular meeting of October 18, 2016 as 
presented.  Councilor Smith seconded the motion.  All Council members present voted in favor 
of the motion.  No abstentions.  Motion carried.  
 
 



Minutes of November 1, 2016…………………………………………………………..  2 

(B)  INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION REQUESTED BY ENMWUA: 

 
1. PowerPoint Presentation. 

 
Mayor King asked Justin Howalt, ENMWUA Executive Director, to begin his presentation of the Ute Water 

Project.  The Mayor commented that the official name of the authority is the Eastern New Mexico Water 

Utility Authority (ENMWUA).  She told the Council that the Ute Water project has been in the making for 
about 15 years.   Justin Howalt thanked the Council for allowing him to make the presentation.  He told 

them that he would be talking about the project background and the need for the project.  Howalt told the 
Council that the Canadian River Compact between New Mexico, Texas and Oklahoma came into being in 

1951.  He stated that Ute Reservoir was completed in 1963 and owned and operated by New Mexico 
through the Interstate Stream Commission.  He reported that the reservoir was built for municipal and 

industrial water supply to eastern New Mexico communities.  Howalt talked about the need for the project 

because the Ogallala Aquifer is declining rapidly.  He showed the Council the comparison of maps of the 
aquifer in 2004 to 2007 and the one for 2010 to 2015.  Mayor King asked him to explain “saturated 

thickness.”  Howalt commented that this is water thickness from which to draw.  He quoted from the City of 
Portales 2015 Water Conservation and Use Report prepared by Dr. Charles Wilson, consultant for Portales 

citing that the average depletion rate in 2014 was 1.5 feet per year.  He added that the Ogallala Aquifer is a 

finite source as shown by a water age study.  Howalt told the Council that the best alternative water supply 
if Ute Reservoir.  His slides showed that the City of Portales and the City of Clovis are in the same boat.  

Howalt told the Council that the ENMWUA was created in 2009 by New Mexico House Bill 15.  He identified 
the member communities:  Clovis (CAFB), Curry County, Portales, Grady, Melrose, Texico and Elida.  He told 

the Council that the authority had achieved federal authorization through the Omnibus Public Lands 
Management Act of 2009.  He showed the Council a slide with water lines in the project and how the water 

would flow.  Howalt talked about the work completed to-date:  a preliminary PER in December of 2005 with 

6 alternatives analyzed; a schematic design completed in February of 2009; value engineering in June of 
2009; an environmental assessment in January of 2011; and the Ute Reservoir Intake Facility completed in 

April of 2016.  He commented that the environmental assessment was done to review the entire plan for the 
pipeline.  He talked about the intake facility, which was phase I and showed pictures of the project.  

Councilor Heflin asked what the ENMWUA was doing now.  Howalt responded that they do maintenance at a 

cost of $16,000.00 a year.  Mayor King commented that there are two reasons for the intake facility—the 
ENMWUA banked money to do the project, but that at some levels of funding they do not consider pipelines 

ongoing construction.  Howalt told the Council that the Interstate Stream Commission allows only one intake 
facility at Ute and that it can be used by other communities.  He reported that the intake facility was 

dedicated to Daryl Bostwick.  Councilor Robinson asked about the cost to these other communities.  Howalt 

responded that they would have to pay for access and would have to pay to run their own pipe.  He 
reported that the first part of the project runs to Melrose Turnout (14 miles of 39-inch of welded steel pipe).  

He stated that the field work is completed; it is at 60% design completion; and will cost $44.7 million dollars. 
Howalt stated that the 2nd piece is from Cannon to Clovis—9 miles of 33-inch welded steel pipe and is 100% 

complete in design.  He stated that 18 easements are required which are in progress with 11 easements 
secured.  This is at a cost of $25 million dollars.  He reported that the 3rd  portion of the project is from 

Cannon to Portales water tanks with 16 miles of 20-nch ductile iron and PVC pipe; fieldwork and design are 

completed; and acquisition of easements are in project with 7 secured out of 44 total easements needed.  
The project will take $24 million dollars.  Howalt explained how the easements are secured.  He explained 

that easements are done using federal guidelines; do appraisals, then send letters to the owners and then 
obtain the easements.  Howalt described current funding of $11 million dollars (combination of state, federal 

and local funding) with an additional $1 million dollars federally assumed funding for a total available funds 

of $12 million dollars.  He stated that there are $9 million dollars available for construction.  He did talk 
about an interim pipeline to sell water to the members.  He commented that the important part they like to 

point out is that each community should be focused on conservation; reuse and interim groundwater.  He 
added that it is important to do these things to conserve the water source.  He commented that the 

communities will always have to use Ute Water.  Orlando Ortega, RCCDC Executive Director, asked Howalt if 
he was sure about the pipeline providing 99% of the water needed by the communities.  Mayor King 



Minutes of November 1, 2016…………………………………………………………..  3 

answered that communities should look at more than groundwater for focusing on their water needs—that 

we have to look at the bigger picture.  Steve Doerr commented on the fact that the Authority will be drilling 
wells to provide the interim water supply.  Orlando Ortega asked about ag (agricultural) wells needing to 

have well-head protection.  Howalt stated that this is true.  Ortega asked if the farmer will do that.  Mr. 
Howalt responded affirmatively.  Ortega asked if that practice will continue to operate.  He asked if the 

Authority could cross water over from Curry to Roosevelt County.  Howalt responded affirmatively.  Ortega 

asked if there is a threat to that water from agricultural wells.  He asked if the Authority had looked both 
purchasing versus leasing of easements.  Howalt stated that the contracts are good for 5 to 10 years.  He 

commented that the benefit of it is that they are actually paying for a resource.  Howalt stated that the 
Authority is currently working on easements.   

 
Howalt turned the floor over to Jeff Harrigan, RBC Capital Markets, to present the highlights of the finance 

plan.  Harrigan told the Council that the finance plan was done in 2010, modified in 2013 and was revamped 

this year.  He told the Council that the original plan addressed revenue sources and projections over the next 
few years.  He reported that the plan is projected out over a 30-year period.  He stated that the revenue 

model is only as good as the assumptions and that the change to the plan is the revenue stream.  He stated 
that the finance plan addresses phased project completion; federal (75%), state (15%) and local (10%) 

contributions; and operation and maintenance expenses.  He commented that the main thing to get across 

to the Council is that the Authority will apply best practices to maintain minimum fund balances; funding a 
rate reserve; and to fund a renewal replacement fund.  Harrigan told the Council that the Authority is looking   

to maintain a minimum ending fund balance of 3/12th of operating expenditures throughout the life of the 
finance plan.  He commented that the Authority intends to keep enough money in reserves so that they can 

take care of surprises.  He commented that the largest cost of the project is operation and maintenance.  He 
stated that debt service on WTB loans and revenue bonds will grow to $5.2 million dollars after construction 

of the project in 2036 declining after that.  He commented that member contributions will go away from sale 

of water.  Harrigan stated that the Authority anticipates selling water as early as 2022.  He commented that 
once the Authority has water through the pipeline in 2037, member contributions will go away.  Harrigan 

told the Council that the goal is to update the finance plan every 3 years.  He added that if the Authority 
does not sell water in 2022, it will be because the infrastructure is not in place.  He did say that this is a best 

guess estimate.  Harrigan told the Council that the Authority will be back with an update to the finance plan.  

Councilor Heflin asked what the consequences are to the City if it does not pay the member contributions.  
Councilor Cordova asked what the City is paying for with member contributions.  Justin Howalt responded 

that it allows the Authority to pay the loans and for administration of the project.  He added that the amount 
the City of Portales pays is based on the acre feet reserved.  Councilor Heflin asked again what the 

consequences were to the City if it could not pay its member contributions.  Justin Howalt stated that there 

is nothing in writing about that occurring.  Councilor Robinson asked for clarification for the reduction in the 
amount of contributions.  Councilor Heflin commented that EPCOR does not pay membership dues.  Howalt 

responded that the City of Clovis pays membership dues.  City Attorney Doerr asked if the City would pay 
membership dues and then pay for the water also.  Jeff Harrigan responded that in the event that there is 

water to sell to the City of Portales, then the membership dues would go down.  City Attorney Doerr asked if 
the plan is based upon the City getting water in 2037.  Harrigan responded affirmatively.  Orlando Ortega 

commented that if the infrastructure is not completed then someone will not receive water.  Harrigan 

reported that the debt service will decline in 2042 because the loans will be paid up.  Councilor Smith asked 
what the charge for water will be when contributions drop off in 2037.  Jeff Harrigan responded that it would 

depend on how much the cost will be to the Authority.  He added that everyone will pay the same rate for 
the water.  Councilor Heflin asked about the possibility that EPCOR does not buy from the Authority.  David 

Essex, Xcel Energies, asked who regulates the authority.  City Attorney Doerr asked Jeff Harrigan about the 

disclaimer on the Finance Plan—if they were allowing the Council to talk about the plan.  Harrigan responded 
affirmatively.  Councilor Heflin asked about the total cost of the Ute Water Project.  Justin Howalt responded 

that the total cost is $600 million dollars.  He stated that there are ways to accelerate the project.  He 
mentioned public/private partnerships to replace federal money.  Mayor King commented that the authority 

received grant loans from the state in 2008, but that last year they threw in a caveat that the members have 
to pass a resolution to guarantee the loans.   



Minutes of November 1, 2016…………………………………………………………..  4 

2. Review of Resolution. 

 
Mayor King asked to move into review of the Resolution.  Mayor King stated that the NM Environmental 

Department beat the Authority to the City’s revenues to lien its funds.  She commented that the members 
were required to adopt the resolution by June and then received an extension to December 2016.  She told 

the Council that the Finance/Administration Committee is not in agreement yet.  She commented that the 

Authority is not looking for action at this meeting.  She commented that the Authority needs to have the 
City’s decision before December 1, 2016.  She stated that the Finance/Administration Committee’s major 

concern is that the Council would be signing a blank check for the future.  The Council asked if this would 
hurt the City’s borrowing capacity.  Jeff Harrigan responded affirmatively and stated that the NMFA wants to 

make sure that revenues brought in are sufficient to pay the loans.  He stated that the way the resolution is 
written, the City would have to adopt another resolution declining further loans.  Councilor Cordova asked 

what would stop the Authority from asking for more money to pay more debt.  Harrigan stated that the 

resolution would limit the amount of debt by the City.  Councilor Heflin commented that the resolution would 
put handcuffs on the City—that if the Authority goes under then the City would have to pay off the debt.  

Justin Howalt stated that the Finance Plan will limit the amount of the debt that the Authority would be able 
to borrow.  Mayor King asked if the NMFA will look at the total amount pledged or will they look at all the 

members.  Howalt responded that the resolution is a guarantee that the members will pay the debt.  

Councilor Robinson commented that he understood that this is a promissory note to allow the Authority to 
spend the City’s revenues.  Councilor Cordova asked what insurance the City had that the Authority will go 

forward with the project.  Mayor King asked Orlando Ortega if there had been talk about the process to get 
out of membership in the Authority when he was Mayor.  Mr. Ortega responded that it had been talked 

about, but that no entity has cancelled membership.  He commented that his understanding is that the 
resolution will obligate the City to pay for the loans.  He told the Council that this is the tip of the iceberg 

and that there will be more loans.  He asked what guarantee is there that the feds will put up their part of 

the project.  He stated that his thoughts are that, if this project does not go forward in the next few years, it 
will fail.  He added that the pipeline is a Cadillac project and that the membership should look at another 

way to the get the water cheaper.  He stated that he is not against the pipeline, but thinking of a way to get 
the water here on less funds.  Howalt commented that the affordability would go out the window.  Mayor 

King stated that she is convinced of the need to get Ute water.  She commented that she does not want to 

get out of the authority and then find ourselves 15 years later with no water.  Councilor Heflin said that the 
biggest question is who will pay for the water.  He commented that if the City increases the cost of water to 

the customer, then people will leave the community.  Mayor King responded if we don’t move forward with 
the project, then what will be left in the community.  Councilor Robinson urged the Council to remember 

that we have our own water system to maintain and a responsibility to our citizens.  City Manager reminded 

the Council that the resolution is not to drop out of the Authority, but just to approve the debt service.  
There was more discussion on the cost to the City of Portales and the process for action on the resolution.  

Mayor King thanked Justin Howalt and Jeff Harrigan for the presentation. 
    

 
(C)  REQUEST FOR AWARD OF BID AND TO ENTER INTO CONTRACT FOR PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES FOR THE SENIOR CENTER ROOF REPLACMENT 

Mayor King asked Chief Procurement Officer Carla Weems and City Manager Standefer to present the 

request for award of bid and to enter into contract for professional services for the senior center roof 
replacement.  City Manager Standefer told the Council that the award of bid is for re-roofing the senior 

center.  He stated that Crenshaw Consulting Group, L.L.C., engineers, reviewed the four (4) bids received 
and had recommended award to JMC Roofing if they can meet the required insurance, performance and 

payment bonds.  Standefer told the Council that the base bid was $67,500.00 without gross receipts tax and 

a contingency of $10,000.00.  The amount of grant funding through Aging and Long Term Services 
Department (ALTSD) is $88,000.00.  Councilor Lucero asked what type of roofing will be used.  City Manager 

Standefer responded that it is TPO roofing.  He asked for Council approval.  Mayor King asked the pleasure 
of the Council.  Councilor Robinson made the motion to approve award of bid and contract with 



Minutes of November 1, 2016…………………………………………………………..  5 

JMC Roofing for the amount of $67,500.00 and contingent amount as presented.  Councilor 
Heflin seconded the motion.  All Council members present voted in support of the motion.  No 
abstentions.  Motion carried. 
  

(D)  REQUEST TO APPROVE REJECTION OF ALL BIDS FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR 

LIBRARY ROOF REPAIRS AND TO REISSUE AN INVITATION TO BID FOR THE SAME 

Mayor King asked Chief Procurement Officer Carla Weems and City Manager Standefer to present the 

rejection of all bids for professional services for the library roof replacement.  City Manager told the Council 

that the bids for repairing the library roof came in substantially over the budgeted estimate and that the 
recommendation by engineer Crenshaw Consulting Group, L.L.C., is to reject all bids.  He told the Council 

that the architect recommends re-assessment of the project and to come back with another option.  
Councilor Lucero asked about the type of roof on the library.  City Manager Standefer stated that it is gravel 

and tar.  He added that the reason it leaks is that the library has parapet walls on the roof due to previous 

modifications of the library.  He commented that he anticipates that it will have to come back to the Council.  
Mayor King asked the pleasure of the Council.  Councilor Lucero made the motion to reject the bids 
for professional services for the library roof replacement and to authorize reissuing an 
invitation to bid providing the estimate is within budgeted funds as presented.  Councilor 
Cordova seconded the motion.  All Council members present voted in support of the motion.  No 
abstentions.  Motion carried. 
  
 
(E)  DISCUSSION/ACTION OF CHANGE TO CITY COUNCIL MEETING SCHEDULE FOR JANUARY, 

FEBRUARY & MARCH 2017 

Mayor King asked City Manager Standefer to present the requested change to City Council meeting schedule 

for January, February and March 2017.   City Manager Standefer told the Council that there is a need to 
change the dates in January and February due to the state’s legislative session.  He told the Council that the 

meetings in January are the 3rd and 17th—the 17th being opening day of the Legislative Session.  He 
proposed that the Council cancel these dates and hold one meeting in January on January 10th, 2017.  He 

stated that in February the dates are on February 7th and 21st.  He proposed that the February 21, 2017 be 
cancelled.  Standefer added that they always have an option to hold a special meeting if needed.  He asked 

for their opinions.  Councilor Heflin commented that the meetings do not have to be on Tuesdays.  Councilor 

Parker asked why the month of March was mentioned in the item announced.  City Clerk Martinez-Terry 
responded that she had added March before the dates needed were discovered.  Mayor King asked the 

pleasure of the Council.  Councilor Smith made the motion to cancel the meetings in January and 
February 2017, and to reschedule the meetings to one meeting on January 10, 2017 and one 
meeting on February 7, 2017 as proposed.  Councilor Robinson seconded the motion.  All 
Council members present voted in support of the motion.  No abstentions.  Motion carried. 
 

 
(F)  OTHER BUSINESS/CITIZENS TO BE HEARD 
 
Mayor King asked for items of Other Business. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 
There being no further business, Mayor King adjourned the meeting at 8:35 p.m. 
 

 

       
Joan Martinez-Terry, City Clerk  


